
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

Miami-Dade Charter Review Task Force 

Miami-Dade County 
Main Library 

101 West Flagler Street 
Miami, Florida 

August 25, 2025 
As Advertised 

Juan Femandez-Barquin, 
Clerk of the Court and Comptroller 
Board of County Commissioners 

Basia Pruna, Director 
Clerk of the Board Division 

Selena Hadley, Commission Reporter 
(305) 375-1475

2024 VI 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 1 of 34 August 25, 2025 

The Miami-Dade Charter Review Task Force (CRTF/Task Force) convened its third meeting at 
the Miami-Dade County Main Library, 101 W Flagler Street, Miami, FL 33130; on August 25, 
2025 at 10:26 a.m. 

I. Roll Call 

In attendance were the following Task Force members: 

~ Mr. Rafael E. Granado; 
~ Mr. Eric Eikenberg; 
~ Ms. Iris Escarra; 
~ Mr. Robert H. Fernandez; 
~ City of Homestead Mayor Steven D Losner; 
~ Ms. Rebecca Wakefield; 
~ Former Miami-Dade County Commissioner Dennis Moss; 
~Ms.Stephanie V. Daniels; 
~ To\Vl1 of Miami Lakes Mayor Joshua Dieguez; 
~ Vice Chairman Michael Redondo, (State Representative for House District 118); and 
~ Chairman Dennis Kerbel. 

The following Task Force members were absent: 

~ Mr. Jose Jimenez; 
~ Former City of North Miami Mayor Andre D. Pierre; 
~ Former City of Miami Shores Mayor Crystal Wagar; and 
~ Senator Alexis Calatayud 

In addition, to the Task Force members, the following staff members were also present: 
~ Assistant County Attorneys (ACA) Michael Valdes and Jose D Vazquez; 
~ Mr. Oren Rosenthal, Attorney, Supervisor of Elections (SOE); 
~ Mr. Maurice Kemp, Deputy Mayor, Office of the Mayor;
~ Mr. Damian de la Paz, Director of Policy, Office of the Mayor; 
~ Ms. Samantha Jacob, Deputy Director of Policy, Office of the Mayor;
~ Ms. Demetria Henderson, Director of Legislative Affairs, Office of the Mayor; 
~ Ms.Ti via Rouland, Deputy Director of Legislative Affairs, Office of the Mayor; 
~ Mr. Ryan Lafarga, Senior Advisor, Office of Management and Budget; 
~ Mr. Raul Mas, Business Analyst, Office of Management and Budget (0MB); 
~ Mr. Phil Edwards, Chief Intergovernmental Affairs Department of Transportation and Public 

Works (DTPW) 
~ Mr. Erik Morales, Deputy General Counsel, Miami-Dade Sheriff's Office (MDSO);  



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 2 of 34 August 25, 2025 

~ Mr.Gerardo Gomez, General Counsel, Miami-Dade County Office of the Tax Collector;
~ Mr. Luis Montaldo, General Counsel, Clerk of the Court and Comptroller (COCC); 
~ Ms. Barbara Galvez. Chief Administrative Officer, COCC; and
~ Ms.Selena Hadley, Deputy Clerk, Clerk of the Board. 

II. Pledge of Allegiance

The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Commissioner Dennis C. Moss. 

III. Reasonable Opportunity for the Public to be Heard

Chairman Dennis Kerbel opened the reasonable opportunity to be heard. Seeing no one come 
forward to speak, the reasonable opportunity to be heard was closed. 

IV. Charter Matrix Presentation

Mr. Ryan Lafarga presented a comprehensive analysis examining how five home rule charter 
Counties addressed constitutional officers in their charters. The analysis focused on Broward, 
Hillsborough, Orange, Pinellas, and Palm Beach Counties. Volusia County was excluded because 
its charter had not been updated to reflect Amendment IO structure, with its next charter review 
scheduled for 2026. 

The analysis examined three key areas: (I) how constitutional officers were referenced within 
each charter; (2) whether constitutional officers had the ability to be heard or place items directly 
before the board; and (3) whether charters authorized interlocal agreements or contractual 
arrangements between the County and constitutional offices for joint services. 

Mr. Lafarga noted that Orange County was the only jurisdiction structurally comparable to 
Miami-Dade County with a strong mayor, though Orange County also had a County 
administrator appointed by the mayor and confirmed by the Board of County Commissioners. 

Mr. Lafarga reported the following key findings: 

Clerk of the Circuit Court: Structural variations existed across the five Counties. Broward 
County retained comptroller functions following a 2020 referendum pursuant to House Bill 989, 
a special law. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 3 of 34 August 25, 2025 

Chairman Kerbel confirmed that this approach would not be available to Miami-Dade County 
due to a constitutional prohibition preventing the legislature from passing special laws relating 
exclusively to Miami-Dade County, as explained by ACA Valdez. 

Orange County had separately elected Clerk and Comptroller positions, while Hillsborough, 
Palm Beach, and Pinellas Counties had a single official serving both roles, similar to Miami 
Dade County's structure. 

County-specific provisions included: 

• Broward County: All constitutional offices were subject to the County Code of ethics;

•  Orange County: The Comptroller was required to analyze the impact of potential charter
duties; and

•  Pinellas County: All five constitutional officers served on the County attorney's oversight
committee

Property Appraiser: Provisions were similar across Counties. In Orange County, the Property 
Appraiser was subject to audits by the Comptroller. Palm Beach County elected the position on a 
nonpartisan basis and specifically defined the Property Appraiser as a constitutional officer in the 
charter. 

Sheriff: Broward County subjected the Sheriff to the County Code of ethics and outlined the 
Board's duty to provide methods of funding for law enforcement services in unincorporated 
areas. 

Supervisor of Elections: Mr. Lafarga noted a scrivener's error on the presentation slide relating 
to Broward County, which should reference Section 7.0l(F). In Hillsborough County, the charter 
review board was required to file proposed amendments with the Supervisor of Elections (SOE), 
who must place amendments on the ballot. For citizen-initiated petition amendments, the SOE 
certified start and end dates, verified signatures, and placed measures on the ballot. 

Tax Collector: Broward County underwent a transition similar to Miami-Dade County on 
January 7, 2025, converting the Tax Collector department to an elected position. However, the 
Tax Collector was not recognized as a constitutional officer in Broward County's charter, 
requiring the County to address this in their next charter review scheduled for 2030. 

Mr. Lafarga concluded the presentation highlighting the following findings: 

For Hillsborough, Orange, Palm Beach, and Pinellas Counties, the charters contained no mention 
of provisions allowing constitutional officers to be heard or place items on agendas. Broward 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 4 of 34 August 25, 2025 

 

 

 
 

County was the only jurisdiction addressing two of the three research areas: providing that any 
person had the right to be heard at commission meetings, and authorizing the County attorney to 
represent constitutional officers. Mr. Lafarga emphasized that Section 3.07(B) of the Broward 
County charter contained a significant provision stating that all operational services shall be 
made available to constitutional offices at cost. 

Referencing the information provided related to the SOE, Chairman Kerbel noted that some 
charters assigned certain functions to supervisors of elections and asked whether such provisions 
would be consistent with Amendment IO or represented outdated language. 

ACA Valdez advised that the provisions in the formal charters predated Amendment IO and had 
not been updated since its passage. He explained that these provisions imposed certain 
requirements and responsibilities on the SOE concerning petition receipt and verification. ACA 
Valdez noted that the Supervisor was the only County officer with the means to verify petition 
signatures against registered voters. 

Mr. Rosenthal explained that Amendment IO changed what County charters could require 
constitutional officers to do. He cited case law which had previously allowed Counties to place 
additional duties on constitutional officers because Counties could abolish those offices. Since 
Counties had the power to eliminate the offices entirely, they could also add extra responsibilities 
without violating the Constitution. 

Mr. Rosenthal noted that no court had addressed these issues since the 2018 amendments, 
leaving the legal question unresolved. He explained that the Supervisor's position matched the 
County Attorney's view: if State law assigned a duty to the Supervisor of Elections-such as 
verifying petition signatures-the charter could require or request performance of that duty. 
However, if the charter attempted to impose requirements beyond those authorized by State law, 
such provisions would be legally problematic. 

Chairman Kerbel inquired about provisions in other County charters that subjected one 
constitutional officer to be audited by the Comptroller, asking whether such arrangements were 
consistent with Amendment I 0. 

Mr. Luis Montaldo concurred with the legal analysis presented by Mr. Rosenthal regarding 
charter provisions that predated Amendment I 0. Mr. Montaldo noted that many such provisions 
likely had not been challenged or revised following the amendment's implementation. He 
reasoned that should constitutional officers elect to exercise powers granted under the Florida 
Constitution and applicable Statutes, established case law would clearly establish that certain 
governmental functions within Counties remain exclusive to the Clerk's authority. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 5 of 34 August 25, 2025 

 

 

 
 

ACA Valdez indicated that legal opinions and case law suggested Counties lacked authority to 
impose such arrangements on constitutional officers. He noted, however, that most relevant 
precedents predated Amendment 10 and relied on reasoning potentially affected by the 
amendment's changes. ACA Valdez observed that no cases had interpreted these provisions post 
Amendment 10, describing the legal landscape as uncharted territory. 

Mr. Rosenthal informed the Task Force that the SOE had voluntarily contracted with the COCC 
for auditing services, recognizing the Clerk's expertise in this area. He Stated that such interlocal 
agreements represented a better approach than imposing potentially challengeable charter 
provisions, noting that voluntary cooperative agreements avoided constitutional concerns while 
achieving practical objectives. 

In response to Commissioner Moss' inquiry as to how other Counties had updated their charters 
to address Amendment l 0, Mr. Lafarga confirmed most of the Counties had not updated their 
charters since Amendment l O's passage, with only Orange County and Pinellas County 
completing charter updates in 2024. Mr. Lafarga advised that both Counties were required to 
adhere to Amendment l 0 requirements despite their charters containing pre-Amendment l 0 
language. 

Commissioner Moss voiced his objections to the proposed charter amendment granting 
constitutional officers the right to address the Board and add agenda items. He noted that he 
found no precedent for such provisions among major Counties or municipalities and pointed out 
that legislative bodies maintained control over their own agendas and procedures-a practice 
mirrored by the Florida Legislature at the State level. 

Commissioner Moss cautioned against establishing potentially problematic precedents, and 
reiterated he would not support incorporating these provisions into Miami-Dade's charter, as they 
would represent a significant departure from established legislative governance standards and 
could undermine the Board's procedural authority. 

Ms. Iris Escarra sought clarification regarding the distinction between "Clerk of the Board" and 
"Clerk of the Circuit Court and Comptroller" as referenced in Florida Statutes Section 28.12, 
noting potential confusion in the charter's use of these terms. 

ACA Valdes outlined the three distinct functional capacities of the Clerk's office. As Clerk of the 
Circuit Court, the Clerk served as an officer of the court performing judicial functions. As 
Comptroller, the Clerk acted as custodian of County funds and County auditor-roles explicitly 
defined in the Florida Constitution. As Clerk of the Board, the Clerk functioned as County 
recorder and performed ministerial duties on behalf of the Board. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 6 of 34 August 25, 2025 

 

 

 
 

ACA Valdes clarified that the County possessed regulatory authority over the Clerk only when 
acting in the "Clerk of the Board" capacity. He cited existing provisions in State Statutes and 
County Code that direct the Clerk of the Board to transmit resolutions or ordinances to 
designated locations. ACA Valdes emphasized this ministerial function was legally distinct from 
the Clerk's constitutional roles as court officer or comptroller, where the County lacked authority 
to impose additional requirements. He concluded that established legal precedent supported the 
County's ability to mandate specific ministerial actions from the Clerk of the Board, independent 
of the Clerk's constitutionally protected duties. 

 

 
V. Agenda Items 

 
A. Proposed Technical Changes 

 
Before proceeding to the constitutional officers' proposed charter amendments, Chairman Kerbel 
requested an update from staff regarding the status of technical changes that had been discussed 
at previous meetings. 

The Task Force members were advised that staff had prepared a preliminary list of non 
substantive edits to the charter and transmitted them to the County Attorney's Office on August 
11, 2025. He explained these technical changes included updating outdated references 
throughout the charter, such as changing "Dade County" to "Miami-Dade County," correcting 
inconsistent capitalization, updating gender-neutral terminology, changing "he" to "he or she," 
and removing small parenthetical references. lt was further clarified these were stylistic 
corrections to ensure consistency where amendments over time had created variations in 
terminology. 

ACA Valdes confirmed the County Attorney's Office had reviewed the preliminary list and found 
the proposed changes acceptable. He emphasized all changes were technical in nature and could 
be presented at any Task Force meeting as appropriate. ACA Valdes explained these were minor 
stylistic changes to ensure conformity and consistency within the charter where the same terms 
may not have been used uniformly over time due to piecemeal amendments. He noted none of 
these changes would constitute material alterations requiring detailed description in a charter 
amendment ballot question, and all could be described collectively as "technical changes." 

ACA Valdes further explained that technical changes potentially required as a result of 
Amendment IO could be discussed through the current meeting's review process. He suggested 
the Task Force could determine whether to combine Amendment 10-related technical corrections 
with the other stylistic changes or handle them as separate items, deferring to the Task Force's 
preference on how to proceed. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 7 of 34 August 25, 2025 

 

 

 
 

Chairman Kerbel indicated his intention to first complete the review of constitutional officers' 
proposed changes at the current meeting, then present the compiled technical changes list at the 
next Task Force meeting. He suggested that after reviewing the technical changes, the Task Force 
could determine whether Amendment 10-related modifications concerning constitutional officers 
should be consolidated with the general technical changes or whether constitutional officers' 
items should stand alone as a separate ballot question, with technical changes forming an 
independent question. Chairman Kerbel noted the guiding principle that fewer ballot questions 
would be preferable for public clarity and understanding. He indicated this approach would also 
allow the Task Force to identify whether other substantive changes might fit into either category 
as discussions progressed. 

 

 
B. Proposed Amendments/Revisions to the Home Rule Charter as recommended by the 
Constitutional Offices 

Chairman Kerbel thanked Mr. Rosenthal and Mr. Montaldo for preparing the consolidated 
document containing all proposed changes for the Task Force's consideration. 

Mr. Rosenthal clarified that the proposal represented a collaborative effort by all five 
constitutional officers, who had jointly reviewed and endorsed the presented language. 

Mr. Rosenthal identified a typographical error in Section 1.01A(2 l ), explaining that the 
strikethrough formatting should apply only to the double-bracketed phrase "and County 
officers," while the word "constitution" should remain intact. 

Section 1.01A(4) 
 

Chairman Kerbel indicated that based on discussions from the previous Task Force meeting, 
concerns had been raised about striking the phrase "provide traffic control" from Section 
l.01A(4). He noted the Department of Transportation and Public Works (DTPW) was present to 
provide comment on the County's traffic engineering and traffic control functions. 

Chairman Kerbel opened the floor to the Department of Public Works Administration to 
comment regarding the County's traffic engineering and traffic functions. 

Mr. Phil Edwards reported that the department had conducted a comprehensive review of Florida 
Statutes, the charter, and the County Code. Based on this analysis, the department concluded that 
"traffic control" referred specifically to traffic infrastructure which included the design, planning, 
operation, and construction of traffic control devices such as signs, signals, and markings, all 
functions performed by County engineers. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 8 of 34 August 25, 2025 

 

 

 
 

Given these findings, Mr. Edwards recommended maintaining the current charter language, 
which granted the Board jurisdiction over these operations through the DTPW. He further 
clarified that was in contrast to traffic enforcement, the process of enforcing compliance with 
traffic control devices, which fell under the Sheriff's Office's jurisdiction. 

Ms. Stephanie Daniels inquired whether specifying "traffic control infrastructure" would more 
effectively distinguish between the two functions and provide greater clarity. 

In response, Chairman Kerbel initially suggested retaining "provide traffic control" in the charter 
while simply striking "and central crime investigation." He offered this as an alternative option 
for the Task Force's consideration. 

Ms. Daniels stated she would prefer to remove or strike "and police protection" from the 
provision as well, given that the Task Force was already considering the removal of "central 
crime investigations." She argued for consistency in addressing both elements. 

Chairman Kerbel sought clarification on Ms. Daniels' proposal, observing that "police 
protection" appeared earlier in the provision alongside "central records, training, 
communications, and police protection." He noted this clarification was essential to the full 
understanding of the precise language that would be modified by the suggested revision. 

ACA Valdes reminded the Task Force that he remained available to provide legal opinions 
distinguishing between changes mandated by Amendment 10 and those representing 
discretionary policy decisions. 

Chairman Kerbel asked ACA Valdes to categorize the proposed modifications to Section 
1.0 I A(4) according to this framework. 

 
ACA Valdes explained that based on discussions from the previous Task Force meeting, "traffic 
control" could encompass a broader definition beyond exclusively law enforcement functions, 
consistent with the department's recent clarification. He stated this language was not required to 
be removed under Amendment 10. In contrast, ACA Valdes confirmed that "central crime 
investigation" constituted a function performed by the Sheriff and would need to be addressed in 
the charter, as it was no longer a County function. 

Regarding the provision's final portion concerning a "uniform system for fire and police 
protection," ACA Valdes referenced Section 1.0 I A( I 8) of the charter, which addressed the 
Board's authority to establish minimum standards within municipalities. He noted that while the 
County no longer operated its own Countywide police department, it retained the ability under its 
home rule charter to regulate or set minimum standards for municipal police departments. 
Consequently, ACA Valdes stated this language would not require complete deletion but rather 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 9 of 34 August 25, 2025 

 

 

 
 

would be narrowed in scope to apply only to establishing minimum standards for municipal 
police departments, an authority that remained valid post-Amendment I 0. 

Chairman Kerbel questioned whether the phrase "and police protection" in the first line should 
be stricken to maintain consistency with Amendment I 0. 

ACA Valdes clarified that certain listed functions remained County responsibilities despite 
Amendment I 0. He noted that communications for police protection, such as the 911 system, 
continued under County jurisdiction. Similarly, the County retained responsibility for providing 
facilities to the Sheriff, including central records and training facilities. While the County did not 
directly manage police records, it provided the infrastructure for accessing them and the physical 
facilities where these functions occurred. Based on this analysis, ACA Valdes advised that these 
provisions did not require deletion. 

ACA Valdes explained that State law could evolve over time, while the charter required a general 
election to amend. He noted that provisions currently embedded in State law represented only a 
snapshot of requirements at that moment. Since State law could change but charter amendments 
demanded voter approval, maintaining flexibility in the charter language would allow the County 
to adapt to future statutory changes without requiring repeated charter revisions through the 
ballot process. 

Discussions ensued among the Task Force members regarding the decision-making process and 
scope of review. Clarification was sought on whether the County would present alternative 
language options or if the Task Force intended to make immediate decisions on the provisions 
being considered. Additionally, questions were raised about whether the deliberations would be 
limited to the constitutional officers' proposed version alone, or if the Task Force would also hear 
and consider the County administration's position. 

Chairman Kerbel stated his understanding from previous conversations was that the 
administration might not take specific positions on all provisions, but they could comment if they 
wished. 

It was confirmed that the administration had relevant departments present to respond to specific 
suggested revisions. He explained that as suggested changes were presented, the administration 
would consult appropriate departments for feedback, and if departments felt edits needed to be 
reviewed or had supervisory concerns, they would present their positions to the Task Force. 

Chairman Kerbel opened the floor to representatives from the Constitutional Officers to provide 
comment on the provision. However, no one from the Constitutional Officers came forward to 
speak on the matter. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 10 of 34 August 25, 2025 

 

 

 
 

Ms. Daniels inquired whether the reference to "police protection" in the language fell within the 
department's operational scope. 

Discussion ensued regarding the phrase "provide traffic control and central crime investigation" 
and it was suggested that these functions were intended for police operations rather than County 
departments. 

Ms. Escarra proposed specifying "traffic control infrastructure" to distinguish between the 
County's infrastructure responsibilities and law enforcement activities, noting that police 
involvement would be necessary during emergency situations. 

Mr. Edwards explained that the department's principal objective was eliminating ambiguity 
between "traffic control" and "traffic enforcement," with enforcement clearly under the Sheriff's 
Office jurisdiction. He stated the department considered the existing language sufficiently clear 
and consistent with traffic control definitions established in Florida Statutes and County code. He 
emphasized that the department did not wish to alter its comprehensive approach to managing 
traffic infrastructure, which encompassed planning, design, implementation, construction, and 
regulation of traffic control devices including signs, signals, and markings. 

Commissioner Moss proposed simplified language stating "provide traffic control but not 
enforce" as a potential resolution to the concerns raised. 

Mr. Edwards confirmed that retaining "traffic control" as written would be acceptable to the 
department. He explained that the County Code contained multiple sections with detailed 
provisions defining traffic control more broadly to encompass how the department planned, 
designed, implemented, constructed, and regulated traffic infrastructure, including signs, signals, 
and traffic control devices. He emphasized that the department wished to preserve this 
established framework for managing traffic infrastructure operations. 

Mr. Eikenberg moved that in Section I .01 A(4), working from the constitutional officers' joint 
proposal, the Task Force reinstate "provide traffic control" and strike "and central crime 
investigation." 

Chairman Kerbel proffered a friendly amendment to add "provide traffic control but not 
enforcement" which was accepted by Mr. Eikenberg. 

ACA Valdes clarified that enforcement could occur by entities other than law enforcement 
officers such as Fire Rescue personnel at the scene of a crash. He suggested that if clarification 
was desired, specifying "enforcement by law enforcement" would be more precise to distinguish 
it from the Sheriffs Office's law enforcement functions. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 11 of 34 August 25, 2025 

 

 

 
 

Mayor Dieguez questioned whether adding new language to the charter provision might confuse 
voters and asked ACA Valdes whether it would be better to retain the existing charter language 
rather than introduce additional text that could create ambiguity on the ballot. 

Chairman Kerbel withdrew the friendly amendment and proposed instead to retain "provide 
traffic control" and strike "and central crime investigation." 

Ms. Daniels noted that the final sentence of the paragraph also required consideration. 
 

Chairman Kerbel explained the Task Force was addressing the provisions sequentially, but Ms. 
Daniels could make a motion on the entire section if preferred. 

Ms. Daniels noted that the final sentence of the paragraph also required consideration. 
 

Chairman Kerbel explained they were addressing the provisions sequentially. However, he 
indicated Ms. Daniels could make a motion addressing the entire Section 1.01A(4) if she 
preferred that approach. 

Mayor Stephen Losner raised a concern about the language in the first sentence of Section 
1.01A(4). He questioned whether the word "police" should be struck from the phrase "provide 
central records and training for police." He reasoned that if the County was providing central 
records and training for police, this might not accurately reflect the intended meaning, 
particularly given that the provision also addressed two separate systems of public records 
requests. 

Mayor Losner explained that the City of Homestead police department maintained its own 
records due to their sensitive nature, and public records requests were handled directly through 
the police department rather than through the municipal clerk. Based on this operational 
structure, he suggested that maintaining constitutional separation would require striking "for 
police" from the first line of the provision. 

Chairman Kerbel asked ACA Valdes to address this concern regarding central records and 
training. 

ACA Valdes explained that under current State law, systems such as 911 remained a County 
responsibility, with the County required to designate a 911 coordinator in collaboration with the 
Sheriff. Consequently, communications for fire and police protection could continue as a County 
function under existing State law. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 12 of 34 August 25, 2025 

 

 

 
 

ACA Valdes clarified that the central question was whether Amendment 10 mandated this change 
and stated that while the Task Force had discretion to recommend striking this language, 
Amendment IO did not require its removal. 

Ms. Daniels asked for clarification about the specific wording in question. 
 

ACA Valdes explained that under State law, the County retained responsibility for providing the 
physical facilities where these functions were conducted. He noted that the Sheriff and other 
constitutional officers lacked independent authority to lease property in their own names. As a 
result, the County remained obligated to provide facilities for constitutional officers' operations. 

ACA Valdes further clarified that whether addressing central records facilities, communications 
and 911 buildings, or training facilities, all such infrastructure had to be provided by the County 
under existing legal requirements. 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether adding the phrase "to the extent consistent with the constitution 
or State law" at the end of the provision would adequately address the concerns raised. 

ACA Valdes responded that such language could be added, but noted that the charter was always 
interpreted in conjunction with constitutional and State law requirements. He explained that this 
represented an ongoing obligation the County currently maintained, meaning the additional 
clarifying language was not strictly necessary. 

Commissioner Moss requested clarification on what "provide central records, training, and 
communications" actually entailed. He asked whether this referred to physical facilities and 
space, whether the County was responsible for providing actual training content, and whether the 
language provided adequate clarity. 

ACA Valdes responded that the provision could encompass all of these elements, depending on 
how the County chose to manage these functions but at minimum, the County was required to 
provide the physical facilities for these operations. He noted that when these provisions were 
originally drafted, the County operated its own police departments, giving the County a broader 
operational role than it held under the current structure with the Sheriff's Office. However, the 
County retained responsibility for providing the facilities where records management, training, 
and communications activities took place. 

Commissioner Moss asked if the County was responsible for providing training to police and fire 
personnel. 

ACA Valdes clarified that fire training remained a County function, but police training was 
provided by the Sheriff. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 13 of 34 August 25, 2025 

 

 

 
 

Commissioner Moss asked for clarification on whether "communications for fire and police" 
referred specifically to the 911 system that the County oversaw. 

ACA Valdes confirmed the 911 system could fall under that category, though he acknowledged 
there were likely other communication systems used exclusively by police that would not 
necessarily be operated or managed by the County except through contracts to manage them on 
behalf of the Sheriffs Office. He confirmed the 911 system in particular was a County 
responsibility and invited input from the Sheriffs Office. 

Mr. Erik Morales stated that the Sheriffs Office shared a similar interpretation of the provision. 
He advised that the office opposed removing "police protection" because it could encompass 
providing central records locations and communications functions. Mr. Morales acknowledged 
that training was less clearly connected, but the Sheriffs Office concluded it should remain in the 
provision. 

Ms. Daniels expressed confusion about the provision's structure. She noted that while the County 
Attorney explained the County could provide facilities for the Sheriff, the provision's final 
language already addressed this by stating the County shall provide fire stations, jails, and related 
facilities. She observed this was currently accomplished through Sheriffs Office police stations 
throughout the County. Ms. Daniels questioned the necessity of retaining "police protection" in 
the earlier part of the provision, though she acknowledged its inclusion if deemed necessary. 

Ms. Escarra proposed an alternative approach: creating one dedicated sentence addressing all 
police-related matters, with remaining County functions addressed separately. She argued this 
structure would provide greater clarity and simplicity. Ms. Daniels expressed concern that terms 
like "police protection" and "training" could be misinterpreted as circumstances changed over 
time. Given the complex legal landscape with multiple attorneys potentially offering differing 
interpretations, she suggested a clearer organizational structure would better serve future readers 
of the charter. 

Chairman Kerbel recommended making minimal changes to Section l.0IA(4), which addressed 
the County's powers and duties. He stated traffic control must remain in the charter because it 
described a necessary County function and explained this section enumerated County powers 
rather than mandatory duties. 

Chairman Kerbel proposed three specific modifications to Section l.01A(4). First, retain 
"provide traffic control" in the charter language. Second, strike "and central crime investigation" 
because this function fell under the Sheriffs constitutional authority. Third, retain "any police 
protection" but insert the word "municipal" before it. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 14 of 34 August 25, 2025 

 

 

 
 

Chairman Kerbel explained this approach would preserve County authority to establish 
Countywide standards for municipal police departments while properly recognizing the Sheriff's 
exclusive jurisdiction over central crime investigations. 

Discussion ensued among the Task Force members regarding the proffered friendly amendment 
and Commissioner Moss' earlier suggestion to add language "but not enforcement," which had 
previously been accepted. 

Chairman Kerbel withdrew his initial suggestion to add clarifying language such as "but not 
enforcement" to the charter's "provide traffic control" provision in Section I.0IA(4), and 
supported keeping "provide traffic control" in its original form while striking only "and central 
crime investigation," concluding that retaining familiar charter language with established 
interpretation was preferable to introducing new phrases that might complicate voter 
comprehension or create unintended legal ambiguities. 

Commissioner Moss stated he was comfortable not including the enforcement language, but 
expressed concern that at some point in the future, disagreements might arise where parties 
would reference the charter with different interpretations. He emphasized that while he 
understood the desire to minimize changes, he believed clarifying the difference between the 
Sheriffs Office functions and County functions was important. Commissioner Moss commented 
that the County was navigating uncharted territory with constitutional officers now functioning 
as separate entities. He expressed concern that ambiguous charter provisions could lead to future 
litigation when different parties offered competing interpretations of the language. 

Chairman Kerbel inquired whether adding the qualifier "but not law enforcement" after "traffic 
control" would create any complications for the provision. 

Mr. Edwards responded that the department would prefer keeping the language as written. 
Addressing Commissioner Moss' concerns, he stated that DTPW would work with the Sheriff's 
Office as needed through interlocal agreements to address any jurisdictional issues. 

Hearing no further questions or comments, Chairman Kerbel moved to: I. Retain "provide traffic 
control,"; 2. Strike "and central crime investigation,"; and 3. Retain "any police protection" but 
insert "municipal" to read "municipal police protection." This motion was seconded by Mr. Eric 
Eiken berg and upon being put to a vote, the motion passed by a vote of 10-1 (Ms. Wakefield 
voted "no"). 

Section 1.01A(19) 
 

Chairman Kerbel requested clarification as to whether the revised language would adequately 
address situations where State law changed. Specifically, he asked whether the provision would 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 15 of 34 August 25, 2025 

 

 

 
 

permit the County Commission to exercise authority over functions if State law were to change 
in the future. 

ACA Valdez confirmed that the proposed amendment to Section 1.01, Subsection 19 included 
language stating the Board would have no power to abolish or impair the jurisdiction of County 
constitutional officers "except as otherwise provided by the Constitution or by general law, 
except as set forth therein." 

When asked whether this language would allow the County Commission to exercise authority 
over constitutional officers if State law changed in the future, ACA Valdez explained that if 
general law provided the Board with specific authority to regulate or direct certain powers and 
duties of County constitutional officers, that authority would be available to the Commission 
under the charter. 

ACA Valdez clarified this provision was forward-looking and noted it would not only preserve 
any current statutory authority the Board had over constitutional officers in limited 
circumstances, but would also apply to any future State laws that might grant such authority. 

Mr. Rosenthal emphasized that the proposed charter language also served to protect and preserve 
existing State law provisions that currently granted the Board limited authority over 
constitutional officers. 

Mayor Losner moved to approve Section 19 as proposed to strike language about abolishing 
constitutional officers and add language about not impairing jurisdiction. This motion was 
seconded by Mr. Eikenberg, and upon being put to a vote, passed 11-0 (Mr. Jose Jimenez, Mayor 
Andre D. Pierre, Mayor Crystal Wager, and Senator Alexis Calatayud were absent). 

 
 
 

Section 1.01A(20) 
 

Referencing the proposed changes to strike "reports of all county officers"; Chairman Kerbel 
questioned whether commissioners and the mayor were also considered "County officers." 

ACA Valdes confirmed that the term "County officer" was broader than just County 
constitutional officers and also included County commissioners, the mayor, and other individuals 
who acted on behalf of the County as officers but were not necessarily County employees. 

Chairman Kerbel expressed concerns about the change being overly broad. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 16 of 34 August 25, 2025 

 

 

 
 

Mayor Dieguez moved to reject the proposed changes to Subsection 20. The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Eikenberg, and upon being put to a vote, passed 11-0 (Mr. Jose Jimenez, Mayor 
Andre D. Pierre, Mayor Crystal Wager, and Senator Alexis Calatayud were absent). 

 

 
Section 1.01A(21) 

 
The Task Force moved to consider Section I .OIA(21) noting the correction as previously stated 
by Mr. Rosenthal. 

Commissioner Moss moved to accept the proposed changes. This was seconded by Ms. Escarra. 
 

ACA Valdes noted that "County officers" in this subsection represented a broader definition than 
just County constitutional officers, which was something for the Task Force to consider. 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether there were powers and privileges granted under State law to 
County commissioners or the County mayor that would be affected by removing the reference to 
"County officers" in this provision. 

Assistant County Attorney Valdes responded that he could not identify any specific instances at 
that time. 

ACA Valdes further noted that pursuant to Amendment I 0, to the extent that duties and functions 
resided with county constitutional officers, there did not need to be a change in the charter to 
prohibit something Amendment IO already prohibited. He explained these provisions could 
already be read as written in conformity with Amendment IO because the power was not 
provided to the County commission under Amendment I 0. 

Chairman Kerbel inquired whether the proposed changes would be classified as consistent with 
Amendment IO but not required, referencing ACA Valdes's framework for categorizing charter 
amendments. 

ACA Valdes confirmed the assessment. 
 

Mr. Rosenthal contended that the Florida Constitution defined "county officers" as the five 
constitutional officers, and retaining this language in Section 1.0 I A(21) without modification 
would incorrectly suggest the Board could exercise powers belonging to constitutional officers 
through the home rule charter. He explained that the constitutional officers sought this 
amendment to eliminate potential confusion and prevent future attempts whether through 
legislative action or litigation, to claim County authority over powers that Amendment I 0 
explicitly reserved to constitutional officers. While acknowledging that "county officers" might 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 17 of 34 

 

 

 
 

refer to the mayor or commissioners, Mr. Rosenthal contended those individuals' duties were 
already encompassed by the term "counties" elsewhere in the paragraph. He concluded that 
leaving the provision unchanged would contradict Amendment 1 O's restrictions and create 
inconsistency with other charter revisions the Task Force was considering. 

ACA Valdes responded that given the changes to subsection 19 as recommended, he did not 
necessarily think clarity was needed in subsection 21 as well, because there was already express 
language in subsection 19 stating "provided, however, there shall be no power to abolish the 
superintendent of public instruction or," with the revised language, "to abolish or impair the 
jurisdiction, responsibilities, powers or duties of the county constitutional officers." 

Vice Chairman Redondo sought confirmation that subsection 19, which prohibited the Board 
from abolishing or impairing the jurisdiction, responsibilities, powers, or duties of county 
constitutional officers, already provided protection against any potential overreach that might be 
implied by the language in subsection 21. 

ACA Valdes confirmed this was correct. 
 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether it would be more appropriate to use "County Officers" with 
capital letters as a defined term versus "county officers" with lowercase letters. 

ACA Valdes explained that officers were referenced elsewhere in the charter specifically as 
constitutional officers. 

Mr. Rosenthal acknowledged that the charter was drafted before constitutional officers became 
separate entities, resulting in inconsistent capitalization of terms like "county officers." He 
disagreed with the County attorney's interpretation, arguing that subsections 19 and 21 served 
different functions. Subsection 19, he explained, prohibited the Board from impairing or 
abolishing constitutional officers' powers-essentially preventing the Board from interfering 
with constitutional officers' ability to perform their duties. Subsection 21, however, affirmatively 
granted the Board power to act independently, and under its current language, appeared to 
authorize the Board to exercise constitutional officers' powers directly. Mr. Rosenthal contended 
that subsection 19's protections did not fully constrain subsection 21's grant of authority, creating 
a problematic distinction between the two provisions. He concluded that retaining language 
suggesting the Board could exercise constitutional officers' powers would contradict the voters' 
intent in approving Amendment 10, which explicitly reserved those powers to the constitutional 
officers themselves. 

Mr. Montaldo echoed Commissioner Moss's earlier point about the importance of providing 
clarity to constituents. He explained that the Clerk's Office regularly distributed copies of the 
home rule charter at meetings and events, and members of the public frequently referenced it 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 18 of 34 

 

 

 
 

when dealing with initiative petitions and other matters. Mr. Montaldo noted that while he 
understood legal positions sometimes required technical precision, if the Task Force could reach 
consensus on clear language that was legally sound, that clarity would benefit the public. He 
emphasized that constitutional officers like the Supervisor of Elections (SOE) and the Clerk 
routinely fielded questions from constituents about charter provisions, and ambiguous language 
created complications and frustration for residents trying to understand their rights and county 
processes. 

Ms. Wakefield suggested creating a dedicated subsection for constitutional officers to improve 
clarity for residents, noting that while the mayor and commission had clearly delineated sections, 
constitutional officers were scattered throughout the charter. She explained that a layperson 
trying to understand their property appraiser's or tax collector's authority would benefit from a 
consolidated section rather than piecing together information from multiple provisions. 

Responding to Chairman Kerbel's question whether she envisioned adding a definitional 
provision at subsection 19, where constitutional officers were first mentioned, Ms. Wakefield 
clarified she did not have specific language prepared but emphasized that such a section, whether 
through restating or consolidating existing provisions, would help voters clearly understand how 
constitutional officers differed from other county officials. 

Ms. Escarra suggested the constitutional officers' counsel return with proposed definitional 
language. She asked whether "county officers" was defined anywhere as a specific term and 
whether there was an appropriate location in the charter to define both "county officers" and 
"county constitutional officers" with proper capitalization. Ms. Escarra noted that since the Task 
Force was reviewing provisions section by section and would need to modify various provisions 
throughout the charter, he wanted to ensure all necessary changes were captured correctly. 

ACA Valdes noted that Chairman Kerbel had identified Section 9.01, which previously outlined 
the history of abolishing county constitutional offices and clearly required revision or deletion. 
He suggested this section presented an opportunity to insert definitional language clarifying who 
the "County Constitutional Officers" were, allowing that term to be used consistently throughout 
the charter. This would distinguish County Constitutional Officers who were subject to and 
impacted by Amendment 10, from "county officers", a broader category that could include the 
Board of County Commissioners, the mayor, or other officials within county government. 

Ms. Escarra moved that the County attorney's office come back with proposed language that 
clarified "county officer," and "County Constitutional Officer," with proper case usage (upper 
case versus lower case) for the Task Force to consider at the next meeting. This motion was 
seconded by Mr. Robert Fernandez and upon being put to a vote, passed 11-0. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 19 of 34 

 

 

 
 

Section 1.01A(21) 
 

Chairman Kerbel stated that once the Task Force received the definitional provision clearly 
distinguishing "county officers" from "County Constitutional Officers," they should revisit 
subsection 21 to determine whether any modification was necessary. 

Mr. Rosenthal indicated he did not believe changes would be necessary at that point. 
 

It was moved by Mayor Dieguez to table Article 21 until the next CRTF to determine if changes 
were needed. This motion was seconded by Commissioner Moss and upon being put to a vote, 
the motion passed by a vote of 11-0 (Mr. Jose Jimenez, Mayor Andre D. Pierre, Mayor Crystal 
Wager, and Senator Alexis Calatayud were absent). 

 

 
Section 1.05(C) 

 
Chairman Kerbel directed the Task Force's attention to Section 1.05 and the proposed deletion of 
subsection (C). He deferred to ACA Valdes to clarify the nature of the proposed change. 

ACA Valdes explained that this provision regulated County employees seeking elected office. He 
noted that the section had been previously reviewed during the 2018 charter review process and 
that its retention remained at the Task Force's discretion as deletion was not mandated by 
Amendment 10. ACA Valdes advised that the provision was originally designed to identify 
specific offices (the Board, the Mayor, the Clerk, and the Property Appraiser) for which County 
employees would be prohibited from running without taking a leave of absence, as these offices 
fell under County jurisdiction at that time. 

Chairman Kerbel observed that if the underlying policy was to prevent County employees or 
officials from running for any County-related position without taking a leave of absence, the 
Task Force could maintain consistency by adding "or County Constitutional Officers" to the list 
rather than deleting the provision entirely. 

Ms. Stephanie Daniels stated she would support adding constitutional officers to this section, 
thereby extending the requirement that County employees take a leave of absence before running 
for any constitutional office. 

Chairman Kerbel proposed removing the specific references to the Clerk and Property Appraiser 
while adding "County Constitutional Officers" to maintain broader applicability without 
specifying individual offices. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 20 of 34 

 

 

 
 

Ms. Daniels moved to approve Section 1.05(C) as amended-striking the specific references to 
Clerk and Property Appraiser, adding "or County Constitutional Officers," and removing the 
word "or" to properly connect the three listed positions. This motion was seconded by Ms. 
Escarra and upon being put to a vote, passed 11-0 (Mr. Jose Jimenez, Mayor Andre D. Pierre, 
Mayor Crystal Wager, and Senator Alexis Calatayud were absent). 

Chairman Kerbel noted a grammatical error pointed out by Vice Chairman Redondo and 
confirmed it would be corrected to make Section l .05(C) clearer. 

 

 
Section 3.03 

 
ACA Valdes confirmed that the proposed changes to this section were required by Amendment 
10. 

Hearing no questions or comments from Task Force members, Commissioner Moss moved to 
approve the section as proposed. The motion was seconded by Vice Chairman Redondo, and 
upon being put to a vote, the motion passed 11-0 (Mr. Jose Jimenez, Mayor Andre D. Pierre, 
Mayor Crystal Wager, and Senator Alexis Calatayud were absent). 

 

 
Section 3.04 

 
Chairman Kerbel questioned whether Section 3.04(A) should be kept in the charter or if 
candidate qualification procedures should instead default to general law. 

County Attorney Valdes explained that under the Home Rule Amendment of the Florida 
Constitution, Miami-Dade County had authority to establish its own election methods for County 
Commissioners, including distinctive features like nonpartisan elections. However, the central 
question that emerged during the discussion concerned which official would serve as the 
"qualifying officer" for candidates. 

Chairman Kerbel inquired whether the change from Clerk of the Circuit Court to Supervisor of 
Election was governed by Amendment 10. 

ACA Valdes explained that much of the work was performed by a SOE employee deputized by 
the Clerk. 

Discussion ensued about the possibility of changing the language to read "Clerk of the Board." 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 21 of 34 

 

 

 
 

Mr. Rosenthal contended that Amendment IO altered the legal framework governing this issue. 
He noted that Amendment I O's language, "notwithstanding the Home Rule Amendment", 
explicitly prohibited the transfer of duties assigned to the SOE under State law and advised that 
since State law designated the SOE as the qualifying officer for candidates, any charter provision 
assigning this duty to another officer, such as the Clerk of the Board, would violate Amendment 
I 0. 

 
Mr. Rosenthal cautioned that if the charter continued to designate the COCC as the qualifying 
officer, any candidate who qualified through the Clerk rather than the SOE could face legal 
challenges. He pointed out that an independent party could file a lawsuit arguing that such a 
candidate was not properly qualified and therefore ineligible to appear on the ballot, potentially 
voiding an election. 

Commissioner Moss asked with the proposed changes was consistent with Amendment I 0. 
 

ACA Valdes noted that the "method of election" provision in the Home Rule Amendment had 
historically granted Miami-Dade County significant discretion. However, after considering the 
specific "notwithstanding" language in Amendment IO referenced by Mr. Rosenthal, ACA Valdes 
acknowledged the complexity of the matter and indicated that while he believed the charter 
language needed to be changed to remove the reference to the Clerk of the Circuit Court, he 
wanted to conduct additional research on how Amendment I O's "notwithstanding" clause 
interacted with the Home Rule Amendment's method of election provision. ACA Valdes pointed 
out that this was particularly important because Miami-Dade County's unique election system 
including nonpartisan primaries in August with November runoffs--depended on the authority 
granted by that provision. 

Chairman Kerbel maintained that the charter required the removal of the reference to "Clerk of 
the Circuit Court" as it was not permitted by Amendment I 0. 

Mr. Montaldo stated in the event a petition for candidate qualification under the current charter 
language, which designated the Clerk of the Board as the qualifying officer, the office would 
promptly initiate a declaratory action with the court to seek clarification. 

Discussion ensued as to whether the filing fee should be set by the charter or general law, the 
petition alternative to paying the fee (Section 3.04(8)), and whether the charter could mandate 
specific petition verification procedures for the SOE beyond state law. 

Mr. Rosenthal clarified that while the charter could set parameters such as petition deadlines and 
qualification periods, it could not impose procedures on the SOE that conflicted with State law. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 22 of 34 

 

 

 
 

Recognizing the legal complexity and the need for additional research, Mr. Eikenberg moved to 
table Section 3.04(A) until the next meeting. This motion was seconded by Commissioner Moss 
and upon being put to a vote, passed 11-0 (Mr. Jose Jimenez, Mayor Andre D. Pierre, Mayor 
Crystal Wager, and Senator Alexis Calatayud were absent). 

Chairman Kerbel requested that when the item returned, the County Attorney provide clarifying 
language consistent with general law, particularly addressing whether the charter should state 
that candidates "shall qualify in accordance with the requirements of general law" rather than 
specifying a particular qualifying officer. Chairman Kerbel also asked for an analysis on whether 
the filing fee should be set at a specific amount in the charter or should instead follow general 
law provisions, and how the petition qualification alternative should be structured to remain 
consistent with the SOE statutory duties. 

 

 
Article 5 

 
Chairman Kerbel directed the Task Force's attention to Article 5 and the proposed deletion of 
Section 5.03, asking whether these changes were required by Amendment 10 due to the 
Comptroller function. 

ACA Valdes confirmed that modifications were required and explained there were several ways 
to address the matter while preserving the Clerk's Comptroller functions. He noted that the 
Charter could require a budget department or Office of Management and Budget (0MB) as a 
charter-required department, while other departments could be created at the Mayor's discretion 
and funded by the Board, provided they did not impede on the Clerk's audit or Comptroller 
functions. 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether the administration believed the Charter should require a specific 
office to address financial matters. 

Ms. Demetria Henderson indicated that the administration was comfortable maintaining the 
Mayor's existing discretion to create or adjust departments as currently outlined in the Charter. 
She offered to provide an update at the next meeting. 

Ms. Escarra noted that while Section 5.03 addressed financial administration another section 
already contained procedural provisions, suggesting potential redundancy. 

In response to Commissioner Moss's question about whether financial matters would be solely at 
the Mayor's discretion, ACA Valdes clarified that the Florida Constitution and State law 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 23 of 34 

 

 

 
 

designated the COCC custodian of county funds and county auditor. He explained that finance 
functions previously performed by the Finance Director were now performed by the Clerk. 

Mr. Montaldo concurred with ACA Valdes and clarified an important distinction: the Clerk also 
served as accountant for the Board, a role with limited legal flexibility. He explained that State 
law and the Constitution had established firm requirements regarding these functions, 
particularly the Clerk's roles as custodian of County funds and accountant for the Board. Mr. 
Montaldo acknowledged that conflicts over constitutional powers would inevitably arise and be 
tested as part of the checks and balances system inherent in the separation of powers established 
by Article V of the Florida Constitution. 

Ms. Barbara Galvez noted that the Constitution allowed for appointment of a Budget Officer and 
asked whether this was addressed in the Charter. She suggested that 0MB could fall under 
Article S's list of charter-required departments. 

Commissioner Moss moved to table Article 5.03 to the next CRTF meeting. This motion was 
seconded by Ms. Escarra and upon being put to a vote, passed 11-0 (Mr. Jose Jimenez, Mayor 
Andre D. Pierre, Mayor Crystal Wager, and Senator Alexis Calatayud were absent). 

 

 
Article 5.04 

 
ACA Valdes confirmed that the deletion of certain provisions was required by Amendment l 0. 

 
Regarding the proposed changes to Section B (the newly created "B"), ACA Valdes explained 
that state law allowed the County to collect certain taxes through the Regulatory and Economic 
Resources (RER) Department, while other taxes must be collected by the Tax Collector. He 
noted that the Charter's current language stating "all County and municipal taxes shall be 
collected by the Tax Collector in accordance with state law" was broader than Amendment l 0 
required, since State law permitted the County to collect some taxes directly. 

Responding to Chairman Kerbel 's request for examples of County-collected taxes, Mr. Lafarga 
confirmed that RER collected convention and tourism taxes. He explained that during the 
transition from the Tax Collector Department to the elected Office of the Tax Collector, the 
administration reviewed which taxes were currently collected by RER and which were mandated 
by State law to be collected by the Tax Collector. He noted that local business taxes were 
determined to be mandated for collection by the Tax Collector. 

Mr. Gomez added that in addition to convention and tourism taxes, RER collected the food and 
beverage optional tax benefiting the homeless and domestic violence prevention under the same 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 24 of 34 

 

 

 
 

statutory provision. He expressed partial agreement with the statute designating the Miami-Dade 
County Office of the Tax Collector as the "appropriate tax collector" and emphasized the need 
for contractual agreements between the Tax Collector and the County for certain duties. Mr. 
Gomez recommended adding the term "property taxes" to this Charter section for clarity. 

 
Chairman Kerbel suggested limiting the language to "property taxes" and asked whether the 
revision should explicitly preserve the County's authority to collect certain taxes. 

Mr. Gomez confirmed there was no preference from the Tax Collector's Office on this point. 
 

ACA Valdes clarified that "county and municipal taxes" in this context referred to ad valorem 
taxes collected on behalf of cities or municipalities. He explained that without this clarity, the 
deletions could create ambiguity regarding taxes the County collected independently. ACA 
Valdes recommended revising the language to state "all county and municipal ad valorem taxes 
shall be collected by the Tax Collector" to satisfy Amendment lO's requirements. 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether the "ad valorem" qualifier should be added to other sections 
referencing delinquent municipal taxes and tax revenues collected. 

ACA Valdes recommended consulting with the administration, Budget Office, or Tax Collector's 
Office before making such changes. 

Mr. Gomez noted there were additional taxes addressed in the County Code and requested 
specificity regarding the Tax Collector's responsibilities under the Charter, emphasizing that state 
law was already clear. He indicated no objection to narrowing the Charter's scope if needed. 

Ms. Escarra suggested adding language such as "unless such tax may be collected by the County 
and the municipality by general law" to avoid unintentionally conflicting with general law by 
being overly specific. 

Chairman Kerbel proposed the following revised language: "All county and municipal ad 
valorem taxes are collected by the Tax Collector in accordance with state law," ending the 
sentence there and deleting the remainder. He suggested that other tax collections would be 
governed by general law. 

Chairman Kerbel confirmed with Mr. Gomez that the provision stating the tax year began 
January I st would remain. 

In response to Mayor Losner's suggestion to add "personal property tax," Mr. Gomez clarified 
that this was unnecessary because personal property tax was an ad valorem tax and therefore 
already covered by the revised language. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 25 of 34 

 

 

 
 

Vice Chairman Redondo moved to approve Section 5.04 as amended. This motion was seconded 
by Mr. Eikenberg, and up on being put to a vote, passed 11-0 (Mr. Jose Jimenez, Mayor Andre D. 
Pierre, Mayor Crystal Wager, and Senator Alexis Calatayud were absent). 

 

 
Article 6 

 
Chairman Kerbel noted that a separate meeting would be dedicated to discussing municipalities, 
annexations, and incorporation, and suggested creating a separate charter section for these topics. 
He observed that the proposed changes to Article 6 regarding municipal boundaries appeared to 
be required by Amendment 10, with the exception of paragraph 7. 

Mr. Montaldo identified a typographical error in Section 6.05(B)(l ), noting that the phrase "if the 
Clerk" at the beginning of the last sentence should read "if the County" to maintain consistency 
with other approved changes. 

ACA Valdes reviewed the proposed changes to Section 6.03 concerning election timeframes and 
noted the original language stated "or at such other time that the SOE provide for such election." 
He explained that this language was broader than required by Amendment 10 or State law and 
clarified that a County Commission or municipal governing body could not call a special election 
until notice was given to the SOE and consent was obtained regarding a date when registration 
books were available. ACA Valdes distinguished this requirement from the proposed language, 
noting that "or at such time as the supervisor provides" implied greater discretion than simply 
confirming whether registration books and equipment were actually available. 

Chairman Kerbel proposed clarifying the language to read "or at such other time the Supervisor 
of Elections confirms is available for such election." 

ACA Valdes agreed this language would be consistent with Florida Statute. 
 

Mr. Rosenthal supported the proposed language but explained it was drafted broadly to prevent 
situations where election resources might be unavailable during the charter-specified timeframe. 
He illustrated a scenario where a municipality had completed extensive preparatory work to 
place an item on the ballot, only to find the SOE unavailable to conduct the election within the 
charter's required timeframe. Without flexible language allowing an alternate date, he argued, the 
election might never occur. Mr. Rosenthal explained that the proposed language would allow the 
supervisor to propose an alternate date if the charter-specified timeframe proved infeasible, 
preventing the municipal incorporation process from being entirely derailed by scheduling 
constraints. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 26 of 34 

 

 

 
 

Chairman Kerbel expressed confusion about why the SOE could not simply confirm availability 
for a date three days outside the specified window. 

Mr. Rosenthal provided a detailed example: Section 6.03 required elections to be held between 
60 and 120 days after certain triggering events. However, if redistricting or re-precincting 
occurred due to reapportionment during that 60-120 day period, all election equipment would be 
offiine, making it impossible to conduct the election. Under restrictive language requiring only 
"confirmation of availability," if the supervisor could not confirm availability during the 60-120 
day window, one could argue the election would never occur. His proposed language-"or at 
such other time as the supervisor confirms availability for such election"-would allow the 
election to proceed outside the specified window when circumstances prevented holding it within 
the required timeframe. 

Following extensive discussion, Chairman Kerbel agreed with Mr. Rosenthal's proposed 
language: "or at such other time as the Supervisor confirms availability for such election." 

Mr. Rosenthal emphasized this language was necessary when availability could not be confirmed 
during the charter-specified window. 

ACA Valdes confirmed the language was consistent with State law, and Chairman Kerbel 
clarified the conforming changes should be made. 

Commissioner Moss expressed concern about elections being postponed due to unforeseen 
scheduling issues. 

ACA Valdes explained that State law prevented the County Commission from calling an election 
until confirmation of availability was received. He suggested adding language specifying "at the 
earliest possible time" to prevent delays beyond statutory timelines. He noted that prior to 
Amendment 10, this was less problematic because the SOE was a county department that could 
be directed by the County Commission. With the Supervisor now an independent constitutional 
officer, the confirmation requirement created potential for delay. 

ACA Valdes proposed adding language such as "at the earliest possible time that the SOE 
confirms availability for such election" to ensure elections occurred as close to the charter 
specified timeframe as possible while accommodating legitimate resource constraints. 

Mr. Rosenthal acknowledged Commissioner Moss's concern and clarified that the SOE could not 
arbitrarily declare that resources were never available, as doing so would constitute a violation of 
state law. He noted that concerns about procedural fairness and proper resource allocation could 
apply in multiple contexts, referencing the upcoming discussion of Article 9 provisions regarding 
constitutional officers' ability to place items before the Commission. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 27 of 34 

 

 

 
 

Chairman Kerbel confirmed the motion was to accept all proposed changes through paragraph 6, 
excluding paragraph 7 which would be discussed separately. 

Mr. Fernandez moved to adopt the alternative language for the election scheduling as proposed 
with the new language. This motion was seconded by Ms. Escarra, and upon being put to a vote, 
passed 11-0 (Mr. Jose Jimenez, Mayor Andre D. Pierre, Mayor Crystal Wager, and Senator 
Alexis Calatayud were absent). 

 

 
Article 6 - Paragraph 7 

Chairman Kerbel directed the Task Force's attention to paragraph 7, explaining that this 
provision required separate discussion due to its unique implications following the transition of 
law enforcement functions. He noted the existing charter language required new municipalities 
to contract with the County for local police patrol services for a minimum of three years. 
Chairman Kerbel advised that the proposed change would update this requirement to mandate 
contracting with the "Sheriff'' instead. 

Ms. Daniels explained that this requirement had long been standard practice, ensuring new 
municipalities had access to police services through the Sheriff's Office while they worked to 
establish their own departments. 

In response to Commissioner Moss's question about the timeline for establishing an independent 
police department, Ms. Daniels clarified that the process often took a minimum of three years 
and that separating from Sheriff's Office services was very expensive if a municipality later 
chose that path. 

Ms. Daniels moved to approve the proposed change, updating the language from "Miami-Dade 
County" to "Sheriff." Commissioner Moss seconded the motion, and upon being put to a vote, 
passed 11-0 (Mr. Jose Jimenez, Mayor Andre D. Pierre, Mayor Crystal Wager, and Senator 
Alexis Calatayud were absent). 

ACA Valdes recommended that for stylistic consistency, the charter should use the official term 
"Miami-Dade County Sheriff's Office" rather than simply "Sheriff'' throughout the document. 

Chairman Kerbel concurred and directed that the standardized terminology be applied 
consistently throughout the charter's constitutional officers sections. 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 28 of 34 

 

 

 
 

Article 8 

Chairman Kerbel directed the Task Force's attention to Article 8, noting it required the same 
availability confirmation language as discussed in Article 6. 

 
Ms. Escarra indicated that if Task Force members had no comments on Sections 8.01 and 8.02, 
she would move to adopt both sections with the amended language for consistency throughout 
the charter. 

 
Mayor Losner raised a separate issue regarding recall petition requirements in Section 8.02. He 
noted that the current charter required petitions to contain signatures from 8% of registered 
voters Countywide. He pointed out that given the County's single-member commission districts, 
this 8% countywide threshold could potentially exceed the total number of registered voters in a 
given district, effectively precluding district-level recalls. Mayor Losner suggested modifying the 
requirement to apply the percentage on a district level, such as I 0% of registered voters within 
the district to which the recall applied, while maintaining the 8% Countywide standard for 
mayoral recalls. 

 
Chairman Kerbel acknowledged Mayor Losner's suggestion but indicated that discussion 
regarding restructuring County government provisions, including recall thresholds, would be 
held at a future meeting dedicated to that topic. 

 
Ms. Escarra moved to approve Sections 8.01 and 8.02 with the amended "confirmation of 
availability" language applied consistently throughout the charter. Mr. Granado seconded the 
motion and upon being put to a vote, passed 10-0 (Ms. Stephanie Daniels, Mr. Jose Jimenez, 
Mayor Andre D. Pierre, Mayor Crystal Wager, and Senator Alexis Calatayud were absent). 

 
ACA Valdes confirmed that Section 8.02 included the deletion of the Property Appraiser from 
the recall provision, as required by Amendment 10. 

 
 

Article 9 
 

Chairman Kerbel directed the Task Force's attention to Article 9, noting that Section A appeared 
straightforward, as did Section C based on prior discussions. He indicated that Section B was 
where substantive action would occur. 

Commissioner Moss stated he had researched comparable provisions in other jurisdictions and 
could not find any major county or city that allowed constitutional officers the authority 
proposed in Section B. He noted that his research revealed no other major jurisdictions 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 29 of 34 

 

 

 
 

permitting constitutional officers to place items directly on their legislative body's agenda. He 
emphasized that at the State level, the legislature controlled its own agenda, meetings, and 
legislation, with constitutional officers working collaboratively without charter mandates 
requiring access. Commissioner Moss asserted that the County commission, as the County's 
legislative body, should maintain control over its proceedings and agenda and moved to strike 
Section B while accepting Sections A and C. 

Mr. Eikenberg requested clarification regarding the need to include Section B. 
 

Mr. Rosenthal responded that the provision was designed to address concerns about potential 
actions by future boards rather than current practices. He clarified that the central question was 
whether Miami-Dade County, as Florida's largest county, should ensure constitutional officers 
could access the Board when State law required Board cooperation to fulfill their statutory 
duties. Mr. Rosenthal illustrated potential problems through scenarios where procedural delays, 
such as a commissioner's hold on an item or a future Commission Chair declined to schedule 
time-sensitive matters like automatic homestead exemption renewals which could adversely 
affect taxpayers and property owners Countywide. Mr. Rosenthal explained the proposal had two 
components, the first being the right to be heard before the Board, and the second, the ability to 
request agenda placement at the next meeting when State law mandated Board action. While 
acknowledging the second element was more expansive, he argued both were essential to 
protecting taxpayers' interests and ensuring constitutional officers could fulfill their state 
mandated responsibilities. 

Mr. Montaldo highlighted the transfer of financial functions from County administration to the 
Clerk as a constitutional officer under Amendment I 0. He explained that given the size and 
volume of funds the County handled daily, if a critical financial matter arose and could not be 
addressed immediately by the Board, particularly under future boards, any gamesmanship or 
delay could prejudice the financial integrity of the County and harm taxpayers. He urged the 
Task Force to consider that leaving the matter ambiguous could create emergencies detrimental 
to the County's constituents. 

Ms. Barbara Galvez explained that situations arise requiring the Clerk to provide reporting 
information to the Board regarding County financial stability, budgetary impacts, or procurement 
matters affecting departmental budgets. She noted that while the Clerk could distribute written 
memos to all Board members, there was no guarantee that commissioners or appropriate staff 
would review them promptly. This uncertainty was why the Clerk sought the ability to formally 
place such reports on the Board's agenda. 

In response to Chairman Kerbel's comments that the language extended past placing reports on 
an agenda but also spoke to creating legislative action items, Ms. Galvez clarified that the COCC 



August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 30 of 34 

 

 

 
I  • 

' 
FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 

CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 
AUGUST 25, 2025 

 
 

primary focus was being provided the opportunity to provide relevant reports on the agenda and 
not about changing legislation. 

Mr. Gomez explained that State law required the Board to act annually on behalf of the Tax 
Collector. Due to Miami-Dade County's size and the substantial number of property valuation 
appeals before the Value Adjustment Board (VAB), the final certified tax roll frequently was not 
available to the Tax Collector for collection purposes until the following calendar year. He 
noted the Tax Collector's Office had historically appeared before the Board requesting 
authorization to extend the tax roll for collection pending VAB completion. Mr. Gomez 
emphasized this was a concrete example of why constitutional officers needed the ability to bring 
matters requiring Board action to the Board's attention when State law mandated Commission 
action for the exercise of constitutional officers' responsibilities, powers, and duties. 

Chairman Kerbel questioned whether such procedures could be established through ordinance 
rather than charter amendment, noting that the Commission could adopt ordinances addressing 
these process issues if it chose to do so. 

Vice Chairman Redondo provided perspective from his experience in the Florida Legislature. He 
noted that at the State level, cabinet officials including the Chief Financial Officer, Attorney 
General, and Governor could not compel the legislature to consider specific legislation. He 
explained that State agencies typically worked collaboratively with the legislature, with 
departments like the Department of Transportation, Department of Education, and Department of 
Children and Families requesting legislative packages annually that legislators may choose to 
sponsor. He observed that when disagreements arose at the State level, they were often resolved 
through the political process and elections. He noted that constitutionally, the Florida Legislature 
was only required to pass the budget every two years. While not endorsing this as the ideal 
approach, he suggested it represented a different model of separation of powers. 

Chairman Kerbel noted that Broward County's charter provision allowing any person the right to 
be heard at commission meetings might address the first sentence of the proposed language 
regarding constitutional officers' ability to be heard, since constitutional officers could 
theoretically appear as members of the public; and asked whether the County's current rules 
limited public comment to items already on the agenda. 

ACA Valdes confirmed that the charter contained a Citizens' Bill of Rights providing any 
member of the public the ability to be heard. 

Chairman Kerbel opined there might be a distinction between general public comment 
(reasonable opportunity to speak), which was limited to items on the agenda, and what the 
proposed language would provide. 

. 



August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 31 of 34 

 

 

' . 
 

FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 
 
 

Commissioner Moss reiterated his position that the County Commission functioned as the 
legislative body of the County, maintaining control over its own agenda and determining what 
matters are considered. He emphasized that at the State level, the legislature controls its agenda, 
meetings, and legislation, with other governmental entities having separate defined 
responsibilities. Commissioner Moss noted the strong cooperation between the current Board and 
constitutional officers, with the current chair recognizing them and allowing them to address 
issues of concern. He stated he did not anticipate this cooperative relationship changing and 
expressed confidence in its continuation. He articulated his view that County Commissions 
should maintain control over their own legislative processes and expressed concern that the 
provision may face challenges. He characterized Section B as having potential to create 
unintended complications. 

Mr. Rosenthal responded that the State legislature might not provide an appropriate analogy 
because separation of powers operated differently at State and local levels. He noted that under 
the County's charter, the County Commission was designated as the "legislative governing 
body," not merely the "legislative body." He explained that at the State level, when the legislature 
establishes governing functions, it frequently imposed requirements on the executive branch to 
act within specified timeframes and to consider petitions and requests mandated by law. He 
clarified that the constitutional officers' request did not concern legislative functions such as 
adopting ordinances, but rather governing functions. Specifically, the request addressed matters 
the governing body must consider when State law required action by constitutional officers to 
fulfill their duties. He argued this involved governing authority rather than legislative authority, 
making the State legislature comparison unsuitable. He concluded by acknowledging that the 
current commission had been exceptional in providing access to constitutional officers, but 
emphasized that the proposed charter language would provide protection for future boards and 
future circumstances. 

Commissioner Moss moved to strike Section Band to keep Sections A and C. This motion was 
seconded by Rebecca Wakefield. 

Mr. Eric Eikenberg deferred to the Attorneys' to clarify the urgency of this section. 
 

Mr. Rosenthal explained with the mass diversities within the State of Florida a provision was 
needed to allow the Board of County Commissioners (BCC) the authority to release holds to 
present time sensitive items to the BCC for consideration to prevent delays with progressing 
pertinent items in a timely fashion to best serve tax payers of Miami-Dade County. Counsel 
Rosenthal explained in essence this section dealt with reasonable opportunity for the right to be 
heard and the opportunity to request an item be placed on the next Board meeting agenda only 
when the State law requires. 



August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 32 of 34 

 

 

l , 
 
 

FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 
 
 

Commissioner Moss to accept sections A and C, but to reject section B. This motion was 
seconded by Ms. Wakefield and upon being put to a vote, the motion passed a vote of 9-1. 

 

 
Sections 9.01 and 9.07-9.11 

 
ACA Valdes sought clarification regarding proposed changes to Section 9.01, noting that the 
provisions currently written in present tense would need to be either rewritten in past tense for 
historical context or deleted entirely. He suggested the Task Force could add explanatory 
language providing historical context about Amendment I 0, or alternatively delete the section. 

Chairman Kerbel recommended deletion, indicating the historical language could be addressed 
when the item returned to the Task Force. 

Chairman Kerbel directed members' attention to Section 9.07 and noted that Section 8.01(1), 
which had not been discussed during the meeting, referenced the Clerk of the Circuit Court 
receiving proposed ballot language. He observed this provision should be revised to reflect 
"Clerk of the Board" since the County Commission could assign duties to the Clerk in that 
capacity, and the change related to charter amendment procedures in Section 9.07. 

ACA Valdes confirmed that Section 8.01(1) had not been included in the constitutional officers' 
proposed changes. He noted other charter provisions also referenced the Clerk of the Circuit 
Court and suggested making conforming changes throughout the charter to refer to "Clerk of the 
Board" where appropriate for consistency. 

Mr. Montaldo clarified that the Florida Constitution designated the Clerk of the Court as ex 
officio Clerk of the Board, and these provisions functioned together. 

Chairman Kerbel emphasized the importance of ensuring the charter did not assign duties to 
offices unauthorized to perform those functions and advised that Section 8.01( 1) language would 
be addressed at a future meeting. 

Chairman Kerbel asked whether Task Force members had questions concerning Sections 9.07 
through 9.11. 

Regarding Sections 9.10 and 9.11, Commissioner Moss posed a hypothetical scenario asking 
whether the Mayor could request the Clerk take action on a problematic contract under the Clerk 
and Comptroller's exclusive auditing authority specified in State law. 

ACA Valdes confirmed that the Mayor could request the Clerk's assistance as County auditor to 
perform those functions. 



Page 33 of 34 August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

 

 

FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 
 
 

ACA Valdes raised concern about proposed language stating the Clerk had "exclusive authority 
to perform audits as set forth in State law." He clarified this should specify "exclusive authority 
to perform internal audits," as State law under Section 125.01 permitted the County to hire 
independent auditors. He asked whether the provision needed clarification to preserve the 
County's ability to retain independent auditors. 

Responding to Chairman Kerbel's question as to whether the statement was required, ACA 
Valdes replied it was not. 

Ms. Escarra suggested the County Attorney's Office provide guidance on simplifying the 
language in Section 9.10. 

Commissioner Moss moved to table Sections 9.09 through 9.11 pending further clarification on 
auditing authority. 

Mr. Montaldo stated the Clerk's Office had no objection to clarifying the language and explained 
that auditor positions were established prior to Amendment I 0. He acknowledged the complexity 
of different auditor roles but emphasized that State statute now prohibited duplication of 
functions with financial penalties attached. He stressed the importance of the Task Force and 
County eliminating any duplicate functions to avoid such penalties. 

Commissioner Moss asked how the Clerk's Office was currently managing these issues following 
Amendment I O's implementation. 

Mr. Montaldo responded that the Clerk relied on constitutional and statutory requirements, which 
case law had established clearly. He explained the Clerk considered input from the Board, 
administration, and public regarding areas requiring audit attention, noting there had been 
instances, such as the insurance trust fund audit, where public requests prompted full-scale 
audits. 

Ms. Escarra expressed confusion about the various auditing roles and suggested spelling out 
distinct functions clearly to prevent duplication, noting the overlap was difficult to understand 
even for someone accustomed to reviewing complex documents. 

Chairman Kerbel agreed and suggested tabling the auditing sections for discussion at the 
beginning of the next meeting along with revisions to Section 9.01. 

ACA Valdes explained that the proposed language raised State law issues rather than solely 
Amendment 10 concerns. He noted that recent State law prohibited counties from duplicating 
services exclusively provided to constitutional officers. He explained "audit" could mean 
different things from internal compliance reviews of county procedures to full financial audits 



FINAL OFFICIAL MINUTES 
CHARTER REVIEW TASK FORCE 

AUGUST 25, 2025 

conducted by CPAs or accounting firms . ACA Valdes noted the county auditor function, 
commission auditor, and inspector general each performed different types of aud its. He 
suggested the admin istration reach out to the relevant offices to clarify the distinctions and 
recommended the Task Force address several questions at the next meeting: defining what 
constituted an audit, dist ingu ishing auditing roles among the various entities, identifying which 
audits fe ll under the county auditor's function, and determining which types of audits (financial, 
operational, or compliance) the county could sti ll perform. 

Sections 9.09 through 9.11 were tabled for the next CRTF meeting. 

A. Staff Updates 

Chairman Kerbel announced staff updates from today would be covered at the next meeting 

B. Future Meeting Planning 

Discussion ensued between Ms. Henderson and Chairman Kerbel regarding the approved 
meeting schedu le. freque ncy and topics. 

Chairman Kerbel outlined the agenda for upcoming meetings, noting that the next two sessions 
wou ld address county government structure, providing an appropriate forum for Mayor Losner's 
discussion. He explained that each meeting wou ld begin with staff updates and presentation of 
technical changes from prior sessions. Given the exploratory nature of governmental structure 
discussions, Chairman Kerbel indicated the proceedings wou ld be more free-flowing, requiring 
Task Force members to collaborate in developing specific language and policy 
recommendations. He encouraged members to submit proposed language or discussion topics to 
staff for compilation and distribution to the Task Force in advance of meetings. 

C. Future Meeting Dates 

After discussion of avai lable dates, the Task Force scheduled meetings for September 5th at 1 :00 
p.m. and September 17th at 1 :00 p.m. , both to be held in the Commission Chambers. 

VII Adjournment 

There being no further business to come before the Charter Review Task Force (C 
meeting was adjourned at 1 :12 p.m. 

August 25, 2025 Final Official Minutes 
Charter Review Task Force 

Chairman Dennis Kerbel 
Charter Review Task Force 

Page 34 of 34 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
Charter Review Task Force   

 August 25, 2025 
 

Prepared by: Selena Hadley 
 

EXHIBITS LIST 

2025 V1 
 

 
AGENDA 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION 

- Charter Review Task Force (CRTF) Meeting Agenda dated August 25, 2025 
- Presentation – Review of Constitutional Officers in Florida Home Rule Charter Counties 
- Constitutional Officers’ Joint Proposed Required and /requested Amendment to the Charter 

to Conform with Amendment 10 
- BCC/Committee Meeting Assignments – September 2025 
- Letter of Correspondence from the Department of Government Efficiency dated August 4, 

2025 
- Sexual Harassment Prevention Training Acknowledgment Form 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 































































 

  

People and Internal Operations Department  

Human Rights & Fair Employment Practices  
 

 

Sexual Harassment Prevention Training  

Acknowledgment Form  

  
On April 10, 2018, the Miami-Dade County Board of County Commissioner’s adopted Resolution 
No. R-355-18, which requires all members of a County Advisory Board to complete a mandatory 
sexual harassment prevention training as a condition to membership.    
  

My signature below certifies that I have viewed the above indicated training class, understood the 
contents noted, and will abide by the policies and procedures presented.  
  

If I have questions about the training, materials presented or Miami-Dade County policy and 
procedures, I understand it is my responsibility to seek clarification from the Human Rights & Fair 
Employment Practices Division of the Human Resources Department.  

  

  

Board Member Name: ___________________________________________ 

  

Board Member Signature: ________________________________________  

  

Board: ________________________________________________________  

  

Date of Viewing: ________________________________________________   

 

 

Please submit this form to Tracey Mocombe, HRFEP Specialist, at 

tracey.mocombe@miamidade.gov. If you have any questions, she can be reached at (305) 375-

4586.  

mailto:woody.remy@miamidade.gov

	Minutes
	Exhibits List
	Meeting Agenda
	Presentation - Review of Constitutional Officers in Fla. Home Rule Charter Counties
	Constitutional Officers' Joint Proposed Required and Requested Amendment to the Charter to Conform with Amendment 10
	BCC/Committee Meeting Assignments - September 2025 
	Letter from the Department of Government Efficiency
	Sexual Harassment Prevention Training Acknowledgment Form



